# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

	Electronically Filed Mar 29 2021 10:19 p.m
OELLA RIDGE TRUST	) Supreme Court Casizatoeth8A582 rown
	) Clerk of Supreme Court
Appellant,	)
	)
VS.	)
	)
SILVER STATE SCHOOLS CREDIT	)
UNION	)
Respondent.	)

#### **APPEAL**

From the Eighth Judicial District Court
The Honorable Susan Johnson, District Court Mark R. Denton
District Court Case No. A-20-809078-C

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

Kerry P. Faughnan, Esq., NSB #12204 PO Box 335361 North Las Vegas, NV 89033 (702) 301-3096 (702) 331-4222 – Fax Kerry.faughnan@gmail.com

Attorney for Appellant Oella Ridge Trust

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal after a motion to dismiss was granted against Oella Ridge

Trust (hereinafter "Oella") and Respondent Silver State Schools Credit Union

(hereinafter "Silver State").

Notice of Entry of Order Granting Motion to Dismiss was filed June 30, 2020. 2 AA 267-271.<sup>1</sup>

Notice of Appeal was filed July 30, 2020. 2 AA 272 - 273.

An appeal is due 30 from notice of entry of order of the order to be appealed from, NRAP 4(a)(1). The appeal being filed 30 days after notice of entry of the decision, this appeal is timely.

This Court has jurisdiction as an appeal may be taken from a district court in a civil action of a final judgment entered in a proceeding. NRAP 3A(b)(1).

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This matter is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because the matter is not one of the enumerated case categories presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b). The matter also concerns a principal issue of statewide public importance, NRAP 17(a)(12).

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> AA – Appellant's Appendix

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the district court commit clear error and abuse its discretion in allowing Silver State Schools Credit Union to charge attorney's fees to a note and deed of trust that were not requested after the original trial where they were purportedly incurred.

#### INTRODUCTION

Appellant Oella is the owner of a piece of property it purchased at a HOA foreclosure sale November 2, 2012, commonly known as 193 Oella Ridge Court, Henderson NV 89012. Amended Complaint, 1AA 1, Par. 1.

As a result of a 2012 quiet title action, on July 11, 2019, this Court in case 76382 reversed a District Court judgment in favor of Oella, declaring that Silver State's note and deed of trust survived the HOA's foreclosure sale. 1 AA 35 – 37.

Appellant Oella subsequently requested a payoff of respondent Silver State's note. Amended Complaint, 1 AA 2, Par. 7.

The payoff Appellant Oella received included over \$95,000 in attorney's fees and costs never awarded as a result of the 2012 action, and Appellant Oella brought a declaratory relief action to have those costs removed from the payoff, since they never were awarded Respondent Silver State after reversal and remand. Complaint, 1 AA 1-3, Payoff, 1 AA 50.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The case was filed January 23, 2020. Amended Complaint, 1 AA 1 - 3.

After service of the complaint, Respondent Silver State moved to dismiss. 1
AA 4-43.

On March 9, 2020, the Court treated Respondent Silver State's motion as a motion for summary judgment motion, granting the motion in part. March 9, 2020 Minutes, 1 AA 51.

The court ordered Respondent Silver State to provide supplemental briefing by March 30, 2021 to substantiate the claim for attorney's fees. March 9, 2020 Minutes, 1 AA 51.

Respondent Silver State filed their Supplement April 16, 2020, 1 AA 56-235.

Appellant Oella claimed Silver State's filing was late and therefore time barred. Second Amended Opposition to Supplemental Brief, 1 AA 236-261.

The District Court allowed the late filing, and subsequently granted respondent Silver State's motion to dismiss, 2 AA 264-266, leading to this appeal.

//

//

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This matter concerns Appellant Oella Ridge Trust who purchased a piece of property commonly known as 193 Oella Ridge Court, Henderson NV 89012 at a HOA foreclosure sale November 2, 2012. Amended Complaint, 1AA 1, Par. 1.

Oella brought a quiet title action in 2012 against Silver State Schools Credit Union, where the District Court quieted title in favor of Oella, extinguishing Silver State Schools Credit Union's deed of trust recorded against the property. On July 11, 2019, this Court in Case 76382 reversed the District Court's decision, declaring that Silver State's note and deed of trust survived the HOA's foreclosure sale. 1 AA 35-37. After reversal and remand, the District Court entered judgment in favor of Silver State Schools Credit Union after trial and appeal, 1 AA 40-43. The judgment did not award any costs or attorney's fees.

Appellant Oella subsequently requested a payoff of the Silver State note.

Amended Complaint, 1 AA 2, Par. 7.

The payoff Appellant Oella received included over \$95,000 in attorney's fees and costs never requested or awarded in the 2012 action. Appellant Oella then brought a declaratory relief action against Silver State to have those costs removed from the payoff. Complaint, 1 AA 1-3, Payoff, 1 AA 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In said case the borrower/prior homeowner on the note and deed of trust was also a defendant. See Caption, 1 AA 40.

After granting partial summary judgment to Silver State, the District Court ordered Silver State to file a supplement brief by March 30, 2020. Minutes, March 9, 2020, 1 AA 51, April 7, 2020 Order on Motion to Dismiss, 1 AA 53 – 55.

Silver State did not file its Supplemental Brief until April 16, 2020. Supplemental Brief, 1 AA 56-235.

Appellant Oella objected, stating Respondent Silver State had failed to comply with the court's direct order, including a 10 day extension granted by Oella, Second Amended Opposition to Supplemental Brief, 1 AA 236 – 1 AA 246.

Respondent Silver State's response to the objection implied it was Oella's fault that it didn't make further inquiry after the deadline Silver State requested, that professional courtesy should allow an untimely filing, and it was all Covid-19's fault, despite no mention of same being in Silver State's original untimely filed Supplemental Brief. 2 AA 247 – 2 AA 261.

Ultimately, the District Court allowed the untimely filing, Minute Order May 18, 2020, 2 AA 262, and then subsequently granted the Motion to Dismiss.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court committed reversable error in finding that there was no obligation to request attorney's fees and costs at the conclusion of the 2012 litigation because of the language in the note and deed of trust.

Not timely requesting costs pursuant to NRS 18.110(1), and attorney's fee pursuant to NRCP 54(d)(2)(B)(i), is waiver of same despite the contract language in the note and deed of trust, requiring reversal and remand.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The District Court treated the Motion to Dismiss as a Motion for Summary Judgment. March 9, 2020 Minutes, 1 AA 51, Order on Motion to Dismiss, 1 AA 54. Summary judgment orders are reviewed de novo. <u>Houston v. Wells Fargo</u>
Bank, 119 Nev. 485, 488, 78 P.3d 71, 73 (2003).

#### **ARGUMENT**

When Respondent Silver State finally filed its late Supplemental Brief, it stated it was entitled to \$112,497.20 in fees and \$10,299.13 in costs. 1 AA 57, Line 12.

For more than 100 years, the law in Nevada has been that failure to file a cost bill as provided by statute waives the right to costs. "In order for the prevailing party to recover costs, he must come within the provisions of sec. 486, ch. 112, Stats. 1869, as amended by sec. 1, ch. 23, Stats. 1889, (cf. NRS 18.110), which governs the contents and filing of cost bills, and if he fails to file his cost bill within the time prescribed by statute, he is deemed to have waived his right to costs." Linville v. Scheeline, 30 Nev. 106, 111, 93 Pac. 225 (1908).

In this matter, the only time Silver State filed a Memorandum of Costs, was July 19, 2019 before this Court in case 76382, after reversal and remand, requesting costs and disbursements of \$2,302.44. That request was denied by this Court August 6, 2019, and Footnote 1 of the Order Regarding Costs further stated "This order is without prejudice to appellant's right to seek any costs that are taxable in the district court. See NRAP 39(e) (setting forth costs that are taxable in the district court)."

Respondent Silver State therefore was given express notice that costs would need to be filed in the district court, which it never undertook.

NRCP 54(d)(2)(B)(i) is similar. If a request for attorney's fees is not filed within 21 days, you are waiving attorney's fees.

There is a public policy for requiring a party to timely make a request for attorney's fees, which is waiting prejudices the party the fees are request to be assessed against. <u>Collins v. Murphy</u>, 113 Nev. 1380, at 1384, 951 P.2d 598 (1997). In <u>Collins</u>, attorney fees were disallowed that were applied for after the deadline for an appeal had passed. Here, they have never been applied for.

Also, by not bringing a timely motion for attorney's fees, yet claiming attorney's fees are due, there is no judicial examination whether the fees claimed are reasonable, necessary, actually incurred or proper under a <u>Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank</u>, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 21 (1961) analysis.

Appellant Oella, and Respondent Silver State (1 AA 9, Lines 8-9), are unaware of any caselaw in Nevada to support the theory that if a party prevails in litigation, and there is a contract provision as the basis of assessing attorney fees to a borrower who is a co-defendant, at the conclusion of litigation no attempt is made to timely request costs and attorney's fees pursuant to NRS 18.110(1) and NRCP 54(d)(2)(B)(i), you are entitled to continue to claim those fees as a debt due and owing against the borrower co-defendant which have never seen judicial application, review and approval.

Even in this case, the District Court only granted the Motion to Dismiss.

The District Court did not award the attorney's fees and costs claimed by

Respondent Silver State after its late filed Supplemental Brief, or find them

reasonable. Order Granting Motion to Dismiss, 2 AA 270, Lines 1 – 2.

Section 9 of Respondent Silver State's Deed of Trust, 1 AA 22, states the costs and fees to be assessed a borrower must be reasonable. Nevada law and the rules of civil procedure provides the timing a request is to be made so that reasonableness can be determined, otherwise you have waived your rights to make a claim.

Appellant's Amended Complaint did not fail to state a claim upon which relief could not be granted.

Respondent Silver State's \$96,528.25 of Attorney's Fees pursuant to the Payoff, 1 AA 50, certainly was never timely requested or reviewed by the District Court after this Court's reversal and remand in case 76382, and in the judgment after reversal, Respondent Silver State was never awarded any attorney's fees or costs, 1 AA 40 - 43, nor as a result of the District Court's dismissal of this case.

What is different about this case and the out of state authorities cited by Respondent, is Nevada has a time and place post judgment to review and award costs and attorney's fees to insure there is no prejudice to a party to be charged with same, and prevent unsubstantiated and unreasonable costs and attorney's fees. For more than 100 years, if you don't timely apply, or don't provided appropriate supporting documentation, you have waived costs and attorney's fees, Linville,

The cases cited by Respondent for California and Hawaii are not binding on Nevada Courts.

Respondent only attempted to justify their costs and attorney's fees April 16, 2020, seven (7) months after judgment was entered September 16, 2019, 1 AA 40 – 43. NRCP 54(d)(2)(C) however prevents the extension of time for requesting attorney's fees after time has expired, therefore Respondent Silver State requesting the District Court to ratify its Supplemental Brief on attorney fees was improper, being more than seven months late besides late when filed in the current case.

Section 9 of Respondent Silver State's Deed of Trust, 1 AA 22, is required to be interpreted under Nevada law, as it concerns Nevada real property.

Appellant Oella demonstrated a prima facie case that Respondent Silver State never timely applied for attorney's fees and cost after the conclusion of the 2012 case. Appellant Oella also demonstrated the time for making such a claim has passed, which bars Respondent Silver State from the right to attempt to claim attorney's fees and costs now through the Payoff, 1 AA 50, months later, or trying to justify same through the April 16, 2020 Supplemental Brief, 1 AA 56-235.

Nevada borrowers are entitled to have reasonableness determined, when challenged, and in the prior, 2012 case, the borrower was a co-defendant, and costs and attorney's fees were never requested, or awarded, Respondent Silver State.

Notwithstanding Section 9 of Respondent Silver State's Deed of Trust, 1 AA 22, Appellant is aware of no caselaw in Nevada that allows a party to unilaterally assess attorney's fees to themselves as the prevailing party, if they are neither awarded them by the court, or the party does not timely apply for them as required by law.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the above and foregoing reasons, the order of the District Court treating Respondent Silver State's Motion to Dismiss as a Motion for Summary Judgment, and granting same, should be reversed and remanded, with direction to enter judgment in favor of Appellant Oelle Ridge Trust.

Respondent Silver State Schools Credit Union failed to timely make application for costs or attorney's fees in the prior litigation between the parties, which waives their right to request same in the post judgment Payoff Statement, 1 AA 50, given Appellant Oella Ridge Trust by Respondent Silver State Schools Credit Union, despite the language in Section 9 of the Deed of Trust, 1 AA 22.