IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Case No. 81584

OELLA RIDGE TRUST

Appellant

v.

Electronically Filed May 12 2021 03:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

SILVER STATE SCHOOLS CREDIT UNION

Respondent

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County Case No. A-20-809078-C THE HONORABLE MARK DENTON

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

MICHAEL R. BROOKS, NV Bar No. 7287 MALIQ I. KENDRICKS, NV Bar No. 15254 HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC.

10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200

Las Vegas, NV 89145

Telephone: (702) 385-2500 Facsimile: (702) 385-2086

Attorneys for Respondent Silver State Schools Credit Union

I. DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IN COMPLIANCE WITH NRAP 26.1

II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an Order of the district court that qualifies as a final judgment. Silver State, agrees with Oella Ridge's jurisdictional statement to the extent that it addresses the appeal from the final judgment regarding Silver State's Motion to Dismiss.

III. ROUTING STATEMENT

Silver State, agrees with Oella Ridge's routing statement to the extent that it represents that no section of NRAP 17(b) applies directly to this appeal.

IV. INTRODUCTION

Silver State is the owner of a note and deed of trust that contains an unconditional right to recover attorneys fees and costs incurred in defending its lien position. Silver State's right to recover fees and costs is no different than its right to recover property tax advances or insurance advances without court approval. Nevertheless, Oella Ridge contends that Silver State was obligated to seek an award of attorneys fees following the lien priority litigation. There is no such obligation and Oella Ridge cannot cite to any authority imposing a condition upon the recovery of fees and costs. Moreover, Oella Ridge does not account for the fact that its position would undermine the anti-deficiency protections that Nevada consumers receive when they are foreclosed. Oella Ridge's arguments would impose liability on homeowners that the Nevada Legislature specifically sought to prevent.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about May 11, 2004, Silver State made a loan in the original principal sum of \$160,000.00 to Theodore Efthemeou and Jolene Efthemeou. The loan was evidenced by a promissory note (the "Note"). Repayment of the Note was secured by a Deed of Trust on real property located at 193 Oella Ridge Court, Henderson, Nevada 89012 (the "Property").

As a result of payment defaults by the borrowers on the HOA assessments, on November 2, 2012, Oella Ridge Trust purchased the Property at a foreclosure sale on a homeowners' association's lien. On November 8, 2012, a Foreclosure Deed was recorded in the Office of the Clark County Recorder, vesting title of the Property to Oella Ridge. See Foreclosure Deed, attached hereto as RA 1.

On December 11, 2012, Oella Ridge filed a quiet title action against Silver State seeking a determination that Oella Ridge took possession of the Property free and clear of Silver State's Deed of Trust (the "Lien Priority Litgation"). The district court initially sided with Oella Ridge after a bench trial, but this Court ultimately reversed the district court's finding on July 11, 2019 in case no. 76382, holding that the foreclosure sale did not extinguish the Deed of Trust. *See* Order of Remand in Case No. 76382, attached hereto as RA 2. Upon remand, the district court signed a

¹ RA - Respondent's Appendix

Judgment ordering that Oella Ridge owned the Property subject to Silver State's Deed of Trust. *See* District Court Judgment following Remand, attached hereto as RA 3.

Notably, the Deed of Trust allows Silver State to charge the borrower for additional debt, including attorneys fees, incurred in defending its interest in the Property. See Deed of Trust, attached hereto as RA 4. The Deed of Trust provides that if "there is a legal proceeding that might significantly affect [Silver State's] interest in the Property and/or rights under this Security Interest," then the Deed of Trust authorizes Silver State to act to protect its interest in the Property and Deed of Trust including, but not limited to, appearing in court and paying reasonable attorneys fees. Id. Moreover, the Deed of Trust mandates that "[a]ny amounts disbursed by [Silver State] under this Section 9 shall become additional debt of Borrower secured by this Security Instrument." Id. Finally, the Deed of Trust provides that "[Silver State] may charge Borrower fees for services performed in connection with Borrower's default, for the purpose of protecting [Silver State's] interest in the Property and rights under [the Deed of Trust], including, but not limited to, attorney's fees, property inspection and valuation fees." *Id.* Section 9 further specifies, however, that any amounts disbursed by Silver State for this purpose "shall become additional debt of Borrower secured by this Security Instrument" and that the "amounts shall bear interest at the Note rate from the date

of disbursement and shall be payable, with such interest, upon notice from Lender to Borrower requesting payment." *Id*. The plain text of these two clauses authorizes attorneys fees to be added to the loan amount; section 9 does not provide for a separate award of attorney fees.

After the district court entered its judgment on September 16, 2019, subjecting Oella Ridge to Silver State's Deed of Trust, Oella Ridge requested a payoff from Silver State of the Note. In response, Silver State provided a payoff to Oella Ridge, which it refused to pay on the basis that the payoff included unsubstantiated attorneys fees. Indeed, the fees included within the payoff were incurred by Silver State during the seven year litigation between the parties, whereby Silver State was forced to defend its interest in the Property against Oella Ridge.

Subsequently, on January 23, 2020, Oella Ridge brought a declaratory relief action against Silver State, requesting that Silver State's attorneys fees be removed from the payoff. *See* Complaint for Declaratory Relief, attached hereto as RA 5. On March 9, 2020, the district court granted partial summary judgment in favor of Silver State as to the addition of its attorneys fees and costs to the underlying obligation on the Note and ordered supplemental briefing on all other issues. *See* District Court Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment, attached hereto as RA 6. After all supplemental briefing was submitted and considered by the district court, it granted Silver State's Motion to Dismiss in its entirety.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After purchasing the Property at a HOA foreclosure sale, Oella Ridge took title subject to Silver State's first position Deed of Trust. Silver State's security interest was publicly recorded in the Office of the Clark County Recorder, thereby providing Oella Ridge constructive notice of the same. Nonetheless, Oella Ridge's lien priority litigation unsuccessfully sought to quiet title against Silver State. Because the Deed of Trust includes an additional debt provision, affording Silver State its attorneys fees should it ever have to defend its security interest, Silver State is entitled to the fees it incurred in defending its interest against Oella Ridge for nearly seven years in litigation. Oella Ridge would rather have the District Court enter a fee award against the foreclosed upon former owners of the Property in derogation of Nevada anti-deficiency protections. The district court did not err in granting Silver State's Motion to Dismiss and its ruling must be affirmed.

VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Silver State agrees with Oella Ridge that the appropriate Standard of Review is *de novo*, being that the district court treated Silver State's Motion to Dismiss as a Motion for Summary Judgment.

VIII. DISCUSSION

A. The Deed of Trust authorizes the attorneys fees incurred by Silver State in defending its interest in the Property.

Oella Ridge contends that Silver State unilaterally awarded itself attorneys fees pursuant to NRS 18.110. This argument improperly assumes that Silver State was obligated to apply for an award of fees following the conclusion of the Lien Priority Litigation. Oella Ridge makes this argument even though it properly recognizes that there is no Nevada statutory or case law directly on point. (Opening Brief, p. 8).

There is analysis of this issue from California, in nearly identical factual circumstances, where the California Court of Appeals has examined the exact same language in the Deed of Trust at issue. In *Chacker v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, the Court looked at the actual language of the Deed of Trust and determined that the Deed of Trust only contained a right to add attorneys fees spent in defense of a claim against title as additional debt. *See generally Chacker v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 27 Cal. App. 5th 351, 237 Cal. Rptr. 3d 921 (2018), as modified on denial of reh'g (Oct. 17, 2018). In the end, the Court stated: "As we have explained, the trust deed is properly read (only) to permit attorney fees to be added to the borrower's promissory note obligation, and the terms of the trust deed itself are all the "authority" that is necessary under the circumstances." *Id.* at 356-357; 925.

A number of other cases have reviewed whether an award of attorneys fees is the proper, and only, way for a secured lender to seek recovery of attorneys fees spent in defense of its Deed of Trust. *See Hart v. Clear Recon Corp.*, 27 Cal.App.5th 322, 237 Cal.Rptr.3d 907 (2018); *Valencia v. Carrington Mortg. Servs.*, *LLC*, 2013 WL 3223628, at 2 (D. Haw. June 25, 2013). In each case, it has been determined that a Court-ordered award of fees is not necessary, and more importantly, is improper.

Indeed, Oella Ridge is not harmed by the imposition of attorneys fees and costs added to the debt because the Deed of Trust made it clear that Oella Ridge, as the successor in interest, knew that it would be subject to fees and costs advanced in defense of Silver State's interest in the Property. When parties provide for attorneys fees by express contractual provisions, the objective in interpretation, as with all contracts, is to discern the intent of the contracting parties. *Davis v. Beling*, 128 Nev. 301, 321, 278 P.3d 501, 515 (2012). "[T]raditional rules of contract interpretation [are employed] to accomplish that result." *Id.* Therefore, the initial focus is on whether the language of the contract is clear and unambiguous; and, if it is, the contract will be enforced as written. *Pardee Homes of Nevada v. Wolfram*, 135 Nev. 173, 178, 444 P.3d 423, 427 (2019). There is no question that the language of the Deed of Trust clearly intended to give Silver State the right to recover attorneys fees

and costs. The only question before this Court is the proper method, if any, for recovering those fees.

Instead, Oella Ridge would have this Court impose a requirement on fees and costs that would be substantially prejudicial to the former homeowners and undermine Nevada's anti-deficiency protections. Nevada courts have long held that an award of attorneys fees is enforceable as a separate judgment. *See Lee v. GNLV Corp.*, 116 Nev. 424, 426, 996 P.2d 416, 417 (2000)(stating "[a] final judgment is one that disposes of all the issues presented in the case, and leaves nothing for the future consideration of the court, except for post-judgment issues such as attorney's fees and costs. A post-judgment order awarding attorney's fees and/or costs may be appealed as a special order made after final judgment, pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(2).").

Here, the parties' relationship is governed by the Deed of Trust which clearly and unambiguously authorizes Silver State to add any attorneys fees incurred by it in protecting its interest in the Property to the loan balance. Oella Ridge fails to recognize that it automatically became obligated for any attorneys fees incurred by Silver State after Oella Ridge initiated legal proceedings against Silver State on December 11, 2012, challenging Silver State's interest in the Deed of Trust. Undoubtedly, Oella Ridge had constructive notice of the additional debt provision within Silver State's Deed of Trust prior to filing suit. Even assuming *arguendo* that

Oella Ridge did not have notice of the provision prior to initiating legal action against Silver State, once the District Court ordered that Oella Ridge owned the Property subject to Silver State's security interest, such judgment bound Oella Ridge to the entirety of the debt as described within Silver State's Deed of Trust. *Cf. O'Connell v. Wynn Las Vegas, LLC*, 134 Nev. 550, 561, 429 P.3d 664, 673 (Nev. App. 2018)(finding that pursuant to NRS 18.010(3), a district court may award attorneys fees with or without additional evidence when it has presided over protracted litigation and witnessed a lengthy trial in which a party overcame numerous challenges to prevail). Accordingly, the District Court correctly held that there are no triable issues of fact regarding Silver State's ability to add attorneys fees expended in connection with the defense of its security interest as additional debt to the Note pursuant to the Deed of Trust.

B. Oella Ridge, as the moving party, prompted the attorneys fees incurred by Silver State and is solely liable for the debt.

Oella Ridge claims that Silver State should not be awarded its attorneys fees because it never timely applied for fees after the conclusion of the 2012 case, and thus failed to comply with NRCP 54(d)(2)(C). However, Oella Ridge basis its claim on the premise that "Nevada borrowers are entitled to have reasonableness of fees determined, when challenged, and in the prior, 2012 case, the borrower was a codefendant." There are three problems with Oella Ridge's argument. First, it assumes that Oella Ridge is a borrower. Oella Ridge is not a borrower but a speculative

investor in HOA superpriority liens. Secondly, Oella Ridge had an opportunity to to have Silver State's fees incurred in an accounting matter in this case. The Court determined that the fees were reasonable.

Third and finally, Oella Ridge fails to consider Nevada's anti-deficiency protections for actual borrowers. In Nevada, if a judgment creditor or beneficiary of a deed of trust is a financial institution, the court may not award a deficiency judgment to the judgment creditor or the beneficiary of the deed of trust, even if there is a deficiency of the proceeds of the sale and a balance remaining due the judgment creditor or beneficiary of the deed of trust, if: (a) The real property is a single-family dwelling and the debtor or grantor was the owner of the real property at the time of the foreclosure sale; (b) The debtor or grantor used the amount for which the real property was secured by the mortgage or deed of trust to purchase the real property; (c) the debtor or grantor continuously occupied the real property as the debtor's or grantor's principal residence after securing the mortgage or deed of trust; and (d) the debtor or grantor did not refinance the mortgage or deed of trust after securing it. See NRS 40.455 (3).

In this case, Silver State could not seek a deficiency judgment to recover its fees against the Property's prior owner in the 2012 case because it would have been barred from doing so by the anti-deficiency protections.

Silver State began incurring attorneys fees to protect its Deed of Trust as a result of Oella Ridge, not the prior owner of the property. Moreover, because judgment ultimately determined that Oella Ridge purchased the Property subject to Silver State's security interest, the practical effect of such ruling meant that the terms within the Deed of Trust governed Oella Ridge and Silver State's relationship following the HOA's foreclosure sale. As such, because Oella Ridge became bound by the Deed of Trust's additional debt provision prior to Oella Ridge initiating legal action against Silver State, Oella Ridge is indebted to Silver State for its attorneys fees. Any argument otherwise would be inequitable, in that the HOA's foreclosure sale effectively relinquished the prior owners from the Deed of Trust. Thus, the District Court correctly found that Silver State has a legal basis to recover attorneys fees incurred in the defense of its Deed of Trust to the outstanding balance of the debt.

IX. CONCLUSION

The district court properly determined that there are no triable issues of fact regarding Silver State's ability to add attorneys fees expended in connection with the defense of its security interest as additional debt to the Note pursuant to the Deed of Trust. But-for the seven year-long litigation initiated by Oella Ridge against Silver

///

///

State seeking declaratory relief to quiet title, Silver State would not have incurred attorneys fees and costs. Accordingly, this Court should dismiss this appeal.